# **ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA FOR UNEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS**

# **David Grubb**

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	148				
Some expected effects from benefit eligibility conditions	149				
A brief survey of eligibility criteria	152				
Sanction provisions					
Sanction statistics	157				
An index for the strictness of benefit eligibility criteria?	160				
Evidence for the impact of eligibility criteria	163				
Implementation issues	169				
Policy recommendations	170				
Appendix. Some international differences in eligibility criteria for unemployment					
benefits	177				
Bibliography	182				

Most of the information in this paper has been supplied to the OECD Secretariat by countries participating in a thematic review of "Eligibility criteria for unemployment benefits and their impact on labour market outcomes". Thanks are due to all people who contributed to this review. Ann-Kristin Nilsen of the Norwegian Ministry of Administration and Labour, Department of Labour Market Policy, assisted in the analysis of the information and particular thanks are due to her and to the Ministry for financing this. The author also thanks her, Norman Bowers, Jørgen Elmeskov, Bas van der Klaauw, and John Martin for advice and comments. The opinions expressed remain those of the author, and do not commit the OECD or the Member countries.

# **INTRODUCTION**

Scant attention in economic theory has traditionally been devoted to the labour market eligibility criteria for unemployment benefits. Instead, most analysis has focused on the level and duration of benefit payments. In general, economic models interpret benefits as a subsidy paid conditional on a state of non-employment or of unemployment, and predict that benefits will increase the quantity of non-employment or unemployment.<sup>1</sup>

Real-world systems in principle only pay benefit to people who meet both entitlement and eligibility conditions.<sup>2</sup> "Entitlement" conditions restrict benefits to people who either (in the case of fixed-duration unemployment insurance (UI) benefits) have a sufficient record of contributions from work or an assimilated status and have been unemployed for a limited duration or (in the case of assistance-type unemployment benefits) have low total income. "Eligibility" conditions, on the other hand, restrict unemployment benefit to people who:

- are "unemployed" roughly in the sense of the ILO definition of unemployment, i.e. not only out of work, but also able to enter work at short notice and undertaking active steps to find work; and
- meet administrative requirements, such as applying for the benefit with the necessary documentation, and attending interviews with employment counsellors and applying for vacancies as directed by the Public Employment Service (PES).

This paper considers only the impact of *eligibility* conditions, and not entitlement conditions, on unemployment. A first section considers how eligibility conditions in theory affect the level of unemployment. Four following sections describe some of the main eligibility criteria as laid out in legislation, summarise provisions for benefit sanctions, present statistics on the actual incidence of benefit sanctions, and consider the problem of constructing a general indicator or ranking for the stance of benefit eligibility criteria in different countries. Further sections summarise some empirical evaluations of the impact of eligibility criteria, describe organisational issues in the implementation of eligibility criteria, and sketch out some policy recommendations.

#### SOME EXPECTED EFFECTS FROM BENEFIT ELIGIBILITY CONDITIONS

The enforcement of eligibility criteria may have a larger impact on behaviour than variations in replacement rates and effective marginal tax rates do, because the income implications for the individual are larger: when a person is found to be ineligible for unemployment benefits, his or her replacement rate falls to zero. For most unemployed with benefits, the eligibility criteria approximate roughly to a legal requirement that, if the person is able to enter work at all, he or she must do so. Enforcement of such a requirement will have a greater impact than any marginal adjustment to the financial incentives to enter work. For a more detailed analysis, however, it is useful to view the impact of benefit eligibility conditions on unemployment as the sum of several distinct "effects", called here the "exclusion", "behavioural", "disutility" and "entry" effects.

"Exclusion" effects arise when situations that are in principle beyond the control of the person (within the current spell of worklessness) are declared ineligible for benefit. When the person is clearly unable to work, benefit ineligibility has no obvious incentive impact. Often (e.g. in cases of sickness and disability) the people concerned are able to transfer to a more appropriate benefit. In other cases (e.g. people with caring responsibilities), exclusion from benefit may result in a net income loss for the people concerned and a net saving for the public purse. In other cases again, eligibility conditions exclude from benefit groups of people who have some non-zero chance of entering work (e.g. people with a contract to resume a seasonal job later in the year, or people over the standard retirement age). Exclusion of these people reduces the likely disincentive impact of the benefit system simply because overall benefit coverage is reduced. Exclusion clauses may target groups of people whose behaviour is thought to be particularly sensitive to benefit disincentives (temporary workers might fall into this category), but this is not the only principle followed.<sup>3</sup>

Eligibility is also conditional on behaviour that, in most cases, is supposed to increase the chance of finding work. For example, benefit is restricted to people who are available to start work at short notice, who provide proof of their independent job search (e.g. job applications), who do not too easily reject job offers on grounds of wages, working hours, places of work and occupation, and who attend interviews and training courses as required by the PES. These behavioural requirements could affect unemployment in three ways, via:

- a direct "behavioural" effect. The specific behaviour that is encouraged, such as being ready to start work within 24 hours, directly increases the chance of finding work;
- a "disutility effect". Compliance with the behavioural requirements involves some disutility. As a result, it increases incentives for job search; and

an "entry" effect. If the behavioural requirements are onerous (if the disutility effect is sufficiently large), some people will opt to drop their benefit claim rather than comply with the requirements.

Some theoretical predictions can be made about the size of these three effects:

- Starting from an initial situation where unemployment benefit is paid with no behavioural requirement and individuals are choosing a level of job search that maximises expected utility, a small increase in job-search intensity (as compared to the utility-maximising point) involves only a second-order reduction in disutility. A mild job-search requirement may, therefore, have a moderately significant "behavioural" effect but small "disutility" and "entry" effects. Only in the case of relatively onerous job-search obligations are disutility and entry effects expected to become significant.
- An administrative requirement that the unemployed must search for work as intensively as they would have done in the absence of benefits has no "entry" effect. This is because a person who drops a claim so as to avoid requirements will search as intensively as he or she would have done in the absence of an entitlement to benefit. Compliance with the search requirement will always be a preferable strategy.
- It follows from the above that benefits can, without provoking abandonment of benefit claims, be made conditional upon an intensity of job search higher than the individual would undertake in the absence of a benefit entitlement. So, under fairly general assumptions, benefit systems can be designed so as to generate unemployment levels below those that arise under "laissezfaire" (the absence of a benefit system).

The last theoretical prediction applies to a range of behavioural requirements. In the case of a requirement to accept a suitable job, suppose unemployed people receive a succession of job offers at different wage levels and reject those which pay wages below their "reservation wage" Wr. The payment of benefit raises the reservation wage and, thus, increases the expected duration of unemployment spells. If now the PES observes the arrival of job offers and imposes strong sanctions (e.g. lifetime exclusion from the benefit system) when an offer paying a wage above some suitable level Ws is rejected, Ws can be set below the level Wr that unemployed people would choose in the absence of any benefit system; unemployment spell durations are, therefore, lower than under laissez-faire.<sup>4</sup>

Alternatively, the PES might monitor only the frequency of job applications, leaving the unemployed person free to choose whether to accept or reject any actual job offer that results. In this case, the availability of the unemployment benefit raises the reservation wage Wr. However, if job-search requirements are so constraining that the disutility of unemployment with benefits is almost as great as the disutility of

unemployment without benefits, the benefit system will cause a marginal increase in Wr but a substantial increase in search intensity. Here too, unemployment spell durations can be made lower than under *laissez-faire*. Contrasting this model with the previous one, it may be noted that, in terms of the direct "behavioural" effect, a strict job-search requirement does "make work pay" by bringing the unemployed into contact with adequate jobs more frequently, but a strict suitable work requirement forces the unemployed to accept lower-paid jobs.

Another example of a "behavioural" requirement would be the requirement to attend PES training courses. In each case, benefits lose their passive character and become a "wage" paid to the unemployed in return for undertaking additional job search (or for standing ready to enter work sooner, or for participating in training, etc.). In simple models where the behavioural requirements are assumed to be effective and the PES accurately observes job-search behaviour, benefit disincentive effects can be counteracted and potentially reversed: although the limitations of such simple models should be kept in mind.<sup>5</sup>

Even if under certain simplifying assumptions the absence of an unemployment benefit system maximises economic efficiency, to the extent that public consumption is financed by taxes on wages the incentive to re-enter work will remain sub-optimal at a zero level of benefit. A positive level of benefit, paid conditional on strict behavioural requirements, may increase efficiency as well as social welfare. And to the extent that benefits have an insurance function, a benefit system with strict behavioural requirements needs a high benefit level in order to provide compensation for involuntary job loss. Thus a Nordic "welfare state" strategy, with high levels of public spending, high unemployment benefits and strong behavioural requirements, may be seen as a coherent whole, on condition that the benefit system does in fact reduce unemployment thanks to the strong behavioural requirements.

There is room for debate about how far unemployment benefits have ever really functioned as a shadow "wage" paid in return for intense job search and related activity by the unemployed. Possibly long periods of very low unemployment (mainly before 1990) in New Zealand, Norway, Sweden and Switzerland can be interpreted in these terms, along the following lines. The PES in these countries typically had an adequate supply of vacancies relative to the (low) number of registered unemployed. The most significant eligibility requirement was to accept job offers from the PES (although in the Nordic countries the requirement to participate in public works, training and related measures was also important). Because PES placements would usually be into relatively low-level jobs (the PES never has the best jobs), some unemployed had an incentive to not claim benefit at all, and some had an incentive to claim benefit but search vigorously in order to find a better job than the PES was likely to offer: so unemployment stayed low.

#### A BRIEF SURVEY OF ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA

A detailed reading of benefit legislation (see the Appendix) reveals great cross-country variation in some of the eligibility requirements. Potential major changes in legislation would often need to be associated with major reforms to PES procedures, if they are to be effective. Subject to this condition, it seems reasonable to suggest that some of the eligibility issues listed below could be associated with large cross-country differences in reported unemployment rates.

The definitions of *loss of work* and *availability for work* involve issues such as: Are seasonal and intermittent workers allowed to draw unemployment benefit during the slack months even if there is little prospect of placing them? Are people allowed to draw unemployment benefit if they are spending much of their time on unpaid household production (*e.g.* agriculture, home improvement)? Should people whose availability for work appears to be restricted (*e.g.* with child-care responsibilities or intensive involvement in voluntary work) be disqualified from receiving unemployment benefit? If such people are not disqualified, should normal eligibility requirements (*e.g.* that the person should be able to start full-time work at short notice) be relaxed for them, or should these requirements be maintained with strengthened monitoring to ensure compliance?

Some features of legislation may be interpreted as attempts at limiting benefit payment to people who are "effectively available for the types of work that are on offer", *e.g.* workers are allowed to restrict their availability for work in some way (*e.g.* by occupation, or by geographical location) only on condition that "sufficient" numbers of jobs are still available.

In general, a lax definition of availability for work tends to result in people who might otherwise report that they are out of the labour force being registered as unemployed. This tends to exhaust the energies of the placement service (e.g. its reputation with employers is undermined when such people are referred to vacant jobs). However, too strict a definition will exclude some individuals who are genuinely unemployed.

In defining suitable work, Norway is a model of all-round strictness: the unemployed must generally accept shift and night work, must be prepared to work anywhere in Norway (and a spouse who quits his or her job to avoid separation of the couple, and then claims benefit, will be penalised for a voluntary quit), must be ready to accept any job they can do without reference to their previous occupation or wage level, and cannot refuse a job on religious or ethical grounds (albeit that administrative discretion may be invoked in such cases).

The geographical mobility requirement was a significant component in the Nordic model of active labour policy in the 1960s, but it encountered resistance not

only from the unemployed themselves but also from politicians in rural or depressed areas (who saw it as removing the most employable people from the local population). In most other countries, even if there is some requirement for geographic mobility in principle, the wording of legislation and guidelines on the question is vague or contorted: for most unemployed the risk of being offered a job at the other end of the country is probably negligible. The question of travel-to-work time is more relevant. But the mildest requirement is for acceptance of placements involving two hours' travel daily (in the Netherlands and the United Kingdom) and it is doubtful whether the strictest countries, which require four hours travel daily (Belgium, Switzerland), achieve many stable placements involving such a long commute.

It is difficult to see much case for indefinite occupational protection (*i.e.* allowing unemployed people to refuse a job offer that involves a change of occupation, however long they have been unemployed), and it only applies as the main principle in Spain, France with some flexibility, and in Austria for the duration of the insurance benefit only.<sup>6</sup> In Denmark, a progressive reduction in the duration of occupational protection for the unemployed (from 18 months in 1989 to three months in 1999) has been a significant component of a wider package of reforms which has been credited for much of the fall in unemployment since 1994 (Ministry of Labour, 1999).

Suitable work criteria are, with some exceptions (see below), enforced only to the extent that the PES directly refers unemployed people to specific vacancies. If the PES fills vacancies only by advertising, then referrals to vacancies occur only at the initiative of the job-seeker who can choose to apply for vacant jobs or ignore them according to his or her own ideas of what is suitable, so that the suitablework criteria embodied in legislation become more or less irrelevant. However, techniques of direct referral of job seekers to vacancies chosen for them by the PES, with feedback from the employer, are used to a significant extent in at least half of OECD countries.

In most countries, legislation creates a general obligation to accept placements into official or approved *labour market programmes*. But in Belgium, Canada and France, the general obligation applies only to training. In these countries, it is not clear that legislation would allow participation in job creation schemes involving full-time work for pay that corresponds only to unemployment benefit plus a small supplement to be made compulsory.<sup>8</sup>

Requirements for *independent job search* vary especially sharply, with some countries (*e.g.* Belgium until recently, and the Czech Republic) having no such requirement even in principle, and others (Australia, Switzerland, the United Kingdom and the United States) specifying that individuals must report their job search in some detail and achieve a minimum frequency (which is often determined by the PES according

to individual circumstances) of job applications or assimilated acts of job search. In the latter case, the surveillance of independent job search can be the most important intervention by the PES to "activate" the unemployed. This is particularly clear in the United States, where the unemployed in most states have to make two or more job applications every week, but rarely have more than one or two other contacts with the PES (e.g. intensive interviews, action plans, attendance at a job-search seminar, etc.) during a six-month benefit spell. In France, although a minimum frequency of job applications is not specified, documentation must be kept and intensive reviews of job search, at intervals of four months or more, are a prime instrument for verification of eligibility.

Monitoring of independent job search may play some role in implementing the suitable work criteria for benefit. Guidelines in Australia, in particular, suggest that the PES (the public body Centrelink, in the current context of privatised placement services) should disregard applications for types of work that the unemployed person has little chance of obtaining. This obliges unemployed people to apply for a range of jobs within limits that are defined by the suitable work criteria. Some employment offices in Switzerland also monitor the "quality" of independent job applications reported by the unemployed as well as their quantity (OFDE, 1999a).

Legislation in relation to *contacts with the* PES generally gives the PES broad powers to require the claimant to provide relevant documents and information, participate in assessments, attend interviews and collective information sessions, etc. Swiss legislation provides for sanctions for refusal to follow instructions from the labour office, although it is not clear how broadly this could be interpreted. In some other countries, general clauses in legislation requiring beneficiaries to co-operate with the employment office (the Czech Republic) or not act in any way that gives the PES an impression of not being fully available for work (Denmark and Norway) might be invoked to sanction an unemployed person who rejects reasonable suggestions. But there is little evidence that these general clauses are actually invoked as the basis for benefit sanctions.<sup>10</sup>

The United Kingdom has tightened benefit eligibility conditions in various ways since the mid-1980s (see below). One provision introduced in 1996 was a specific requirement for compliance with (reasonable) written instructions from a PES officer, the Jobseeker's Direction. The general "authority" of PES staff in their dealings with the unemployed was fairly widely established in the United Kingdom by 1997, which could probably not have been said 10 or 12 years earlier, although the Jobseeker's Direction was only one of the factors involved.<sup>11</sup>

# **SANCTION PROVISIONS**

Most legislation only applies the concept of a "benefit sanction" or "benefit stop" to a limited range of situations. In other situations, failure to meet eligibility

conditions for benefit technically leads to ineligibility for benefit rather than a sanction of fixed size or duration. To get a meaningful overview of this area, it is necessary to take into account all the procedures which can result in benefits being stopped, including temporary or quasi-permanent ineligibility determinations.

Table 1 compares the duration of benefit sanctions or other benefit stops across countries for the situations which are most often handled through fixed-duration benefit stops or reductions, *i.e.* voluntary quit and refusal of work. In all but three countries, the duration of benefit sanction following a first refusal of a job is the same as the duration of sanction following a voluntary quit. In some countries, these infractions are assimilated under the general concept of "voluntary unemployment".

There are very sharp variations in the duration of sanctions for a first refusal of suitable work, ranging from one week in Denmark and four to five weeks in Australia, and two or three months in many other countries, to six months or more in Belgium and exclusion in Spain. These durations appear to correlate with indicators of employment protection and labour turnover: employment protection for regular contracts is low, turnover is high, and unemployment durations are short, in Denmark and Australia and the opposite is true in Belgium and Spain. A typical or median duration of sanctions for a first refusal of a suitable job (two to three months) appears to be less than the likely cost of the refusal in terms of additional benefit payments as a consequence of the refusal (if no sanction were applied): it is perhaps half the expected duration of a new benefit spell and a quarter of the expected further duration of unemployment for a longer-term unemployed person.<sup>12</sup> The reasoning behind the mild sanction for a first refusal in Denmark (a benefit stop of one week) may be that this facilitates the application of sanctions. Conversely, the strictness of the sanction in Belgium (a benefit stop of 26-52 weeks) helps explain the very low actual incidence of sanctions for refusal of work in that country.

About half the countries shown positively require the exclusion of a person who repeatedly refuses (typically, within a one or two-year period, or within a given benefit entitlement period) suitable work. In Australia and the United Kingdom, benefit entitlements are of unlimited duration, so exclusion would not make much sense. In many cases, "exclusion" means that the person's UI contribution record is wiped out and has to be earned again through work before any new benefit claim. However, Denmark and Finland have specific provisions allowing readmission to the benefit system after only ten weeks or three months of work, respectively. And in some cases, repeated refusal of work leads to an indefinite suspension of benefit on eligibility grounds (*i.e.* it is interpreted as evidence that the person is not available) which may be reversible if and when the person provides better or renewed evidence of availability.

Table 1. Periods of benefit sanction following a voluntary quit and refusal of work or an ALMP placement

	First voluntary quit	Refusal of work or ALMP placement				
	or dismissal for fault	First refusal	Second refusal	Subsequent refusals		
Australia	4-5 weeks <sup>1</sup>	4-5 weeks <sup>1</sup>	6 weeks <sup>2</sup>	8 weeks		
Belgium	8-52 weeks <sup>3</sup>	26-52 weeks	Exclusion			
Czech Republic	Exclusion <sup>4</sup>	3 months <sup>9</sup>	(Exclusion)			
Denmark	5 weeks	1 week (job), exclusion (ALMP) <sup>10</sup>	Exclusion			
Finland	3 months <sup>5</sup>	2 months <sup>5</sup> (job), 0-2 months (ALMP)	2 months or exclusion <sup>11</sup>	2 months or exclusion <sup>11</sup>		
France	4 months <sup>6</sup>	Temporary or definitive exclusion	Temporary or definitive exclusion	Temporary or definitive exclusion		
Germany	12 weeks <sup>7</sup>	12 weeks <sup>7</sup>	Exclusion <sup>12</sup>			
Norway	8 weeks	8 weeks	12 weeks	26 weeks		
Spain	Exclusion <sup>8</sup>	Exclusion				
Switzerland	6-12 weeks	6-12 weeks.	6-12 weeks or exclusion <sup>13</sup>	6-12 weeks or exclusion <sup>13</sup>		
United Kingdom	1-26 weeks	1-26 weeks (job), 2 weeks (ALMP)	1-26 weeks (job), 4 weeks (ALMP)	1-26 weeks (job), 4 weeks (ALMP)		

- 1. Full-time equivalent of an 18 per cent reduction in benefit level that lasts 26 weeks.
- 2. Full-time equivalent of a 24 per cent reduction in benefit level that lasts 26 weeks.
- 3. 8-52 weeks in cases of dismissal for fault, 26-52 weeks in cases of voluntary quit.
- 4. May apply only in cases of repeated guits during a six-month period.
- 5. Reduced to one month if the job in question is for less than five days.
- Admission to benefit after four months of unemployment is conditional on proving active job search during these four months.
- 7. Reduced in some circumstances.
- 8. Exclusion in cases of quit, but a three-month waiting period in cases of dismissal for fault.
- 9. Exclusion is also possible.
- A first refusal of an ALMP placement leads to exclusion only during the "active period" (after 12 months of unemployment).
- 11. Repeated refusals, which are not exactly defined, lead to exclusion, except that the sanction for people with wage-related benefits who repeatedly refuse ALMP placements is limited to two months.
- 12. Exclusion follows when sanctions totalling 24 weeks have been pronounced.
- 13. A second refusal of an ALMP place leads to exclusion and a second or third refusal of a job might lead to exclusion. Source: Legislation and other material supplied for the OECD thematic review of labour market behavioural criteria for unemployment benefits.

In Finland (for those on wage-related benefits) and the United Kingdom, repeated refusals of an active labour market programme (ALMP) placement attract a relatively light sanction. But in Denmark, although a first refusal of a suitable job leads only to a one week sanction, a first refusal of an ALMP placement within the

so-called "active period of benefit" (after 12 months of unemployment) leads to exclusion, with no readmission until 52 weeks of work have been performed. These remarkable contrasts probably relate to rather specific national circumstances (union ownership of the wage-related benefit system in Finland, the short duration of most participation in ALMPs in the United Kingdom, and the current forceful commitment to the "active period of benefit" strategy in Denmark).

In cases of failure to co-operate with the PES (*e.g.* failure to attend interview), some countries apply sanctions. In others, the PES considers that the benefit claim has been dropped, and simply stops benefit payments until the person has re-contacted the PES and complied with requirements. Where there are defined-duration sanctions for failure to co-operate with a regular administrative requirement (including attendance at interviews with the PES), they tend to be considerably lighter than for refusal of a job. But there are some significant exceptions in relation to individual action plan procedures, the "active period" of benefits, and placements into ALMPs.<sup>13</sup> Thus, an indefinite benefit stop applies for refusal to co-operate with the action plan procedure in Belgium and Denmark.

#### SANCTION STATISTICS

Table 2 shows the incidence of benefit sanctions in a number of countries in terms of the annual sanctions as a percentage of the inflow to benefits or the stock of beneficiaries. Because some countries do not apply formal sanctions in the case of administrative infractions and also because sanctions (or assimilated benefit stops) for voluntary quits are not recorded in two of the countries, comparisons of "total" sanction rates across countries would be fairly meaningless: we need to look across individual lines in the table.

In most countries, less than 5 per cent of new benefit claims are sanctioned on grounds of voluntary quit or dismissal for fault. This is far lower than the proportion of the experienced unemployed who report in labour force surveys that separation occurred through leaving (rather than dismissal or termination of a fixed-term contract) (OECD, 1990, Table 2.4, shows that this proportion often exceeded a quarter and it approached a half in Germany and the United Kingdom). This discrepancy arises partly for valid reasons (e.g. a quit when the spouse moves to a different part of the country for professional reasons is often not sanctionable), but also partly because employers collude with employees (i.e. agree to falsely report that they were dismissed) and because many situations are ambiguous (e.g. unsatisfactory workers are persuaded to leave, dissatisfied workers are dismissed, etc.). In the United States, the experience rating of UI benefits gives employers some incentive to contest employees' claims that they were dismissed. In most other countries this is lacking, although the Netherlands recently made employers responsible for financing the first six months of benefit.

Table 2. The incidence of unemployment benefit refusals and sanctions in ten countries

	Australia July-Nov. 1997	Belgium 1997	Czech Republic 1997 <sup>1</sup>	Denmark Q1 1997	Finland 1997	Germany 1997	Switzerland 1996 <sup>2</sup>	Norway 1998	United Kingdom 1997-98	United States 1998 <sup>3</sup>
	Percentages of the flow of initial benefit claims									
Sanctions for behaviour before benefits start	2.21	4.70			3.44	3.62	13.12	10.55	4.32	11.13
Miscellaneous initial conditions		0.03			0.61	3.02				
Voluntary unemployment	2.21	4.67			2.83	3.62		10.55	4.32	11.13
	Sanctions at an annual rate as a percentage of the average stock of benefit claims									
Sanctions and refusals for behaviour during benefit period	14.71	4.20	14.70	4.30	10.19	1.14	38.49	10.84	10.30	56.99
Labour market behavioural	14.71	4.20	14.70	4.50	10.17	1.14	30.47	10.04	10.50	30.77
conditions	3.30	0.78		2.12	10.19	1.14	38.49	7.32	5.52	35.37
Refusal of work	0.33	0.02	••	0.57	2.69	0.64	13.23	5.01	1.23	1.90
ALMP or related action plan	1.82	0.76		1.55	7.50	0.50		2.31	2.21	
Evidence of active job search	1.15				, 0	0.50	25.26	,.	2.08	33.46
Administrative infractions	11.41	3.42	••	2.18		••	••	3.52	4.78	21.62
Other exclusions		4.12								

- .. Unknown, nil or less than half of the last digit used.
- 1. Because data in the Czech Republic relate to exclusions from the job-seeker register, total registered job seekers (not beneficiaries) are used as the denominator in computing the incidence of sanctions.
- 2. Total sanctions in Switzerland in 1996 are allocated to quits, job search, refusal of work and other sanctions for behaviour during the benefit period (included in this total but not in any sub-category), according to incomplete results of partial surveys conducted by OFIAMT in 1989, 1992 and 1998. Data for 1993 (a year with a similar unemployment rate) were used as the denominator in calculating incidences. New benefit claims were estimated as 72 per cent of new registrations with the placement service (see OECD, 1996, Table 2.2, p. 103).
- 3. In the United States, sanction rates for ongoing claims are usually cited on a per-claimant-contact basis, where claimant contacts occur weekly. The annual rates shown here can be read as saying, for example, that the average weekly rate of sanctions applying to persons with a current claim for active job search reasons is 0.63 % (i.e. 33.46 % divided by 52).

Source: Information from national authorities.

The annual total of sanctions for refusal of suitable work, relative to the stock of beneficiaries, is highest in Finland, Norway and Switzerland. In each case, there is some evidence that a substantial proportion of vacancies are filled by active matching to the unemployment register and the direct referral of suitable candidates. But this also occurs in Denmark and Germany. Perhaps the biggest surprise here is that sanction rates for refusal of suitable work are higher in the United Kingdom and the United States than in Denmark and Germany. Most reports indicate that the PES in the United Kingdom and the United States relies overwhelmingly on advertising-type methods to fill vacancies. <sup>15</sup>

Sanctions for refusal of an action plan or ALMP placement may be higher in Finland than in Denmark because in Denmark such refusals are heavily sanctioned and in Finland vocational training programmes are large but sanctions are sometimes mild and there may be some perverse incentives to refuse offers (see OECD, 1996a, p. 116, p. 161). The relatively high sanction rate for refusing ALMP places in the United Kingdom (despite relatively low levels of spending on ALMPs) probably arises because inflows are large (many ALMPs are one or two-week courses, rather than long-term) and sanctions are mild: non-attendance rates even for compulsory courses are sometimes very high (Finn *et al.*, 1998, p. 56, cite 60 per cent non-attendance rates in one area).

Switzerland and the United States report many more sanctions related to monitoring of independent job-search activity than Australia and the United Kingdom do. The normal sanction for insufficient reporting of job search contacts in the United States appears to be loss of benefit for the reporting week only, and, according to some outdated data (OECD, 1996b, Table 4.3) sanctions may be even milder in Switzerland. Also, in Switzerland and the United States, benefits are based on insurance principles and the unemployed have recent work experience, which may encourage a more rigid interpretation of job-search requirements. In Australia the sanction is more severe (an 18 per cent reduction in benefit for 26 weeks). In the United Kingdom, the job-search requirement is often less explicit: a required weekly or monthly frequency of job applications is often not specified, reporting of name and address for employer contacts is not generally required and there is a considerable local flexibility in monitoring job-search requirements (Finn et al., 1998, pp. 26-27). The fact that Denmark, Germany, and Norway report no sanctions for insufficient levels of independent job search confirms that the general requirement for such job search in these countries does not have much impact in the absence of a legal basis for more specific and detailed monitoring procedures.

The incidence of sanctions for specific reasons in specific countries depends largely upon various aspects of PES procedure. If there is no regular procedure that is capable of monitoring the behaviour in question, few sanctions will arise. The incidence of sanctions generated by a regular procedure (e.g. direct referral to PES training programmes) no doubt varies with the frequency of the intervention itself,

but it also varies with other factors, such as whether legislation allows flexible interpretation of the criterion in ways favourable or unfavourable to the unemployed, the harshness of the sanctions themselves, guidelines for individualised counselling (e.g. counsellors may be encouraged to issue warnings to at-risk clients and arrange further counselling before initiating any sanction action), and administrative blockages (which arise when employment counsellors have to transmit documents to a separate benefit administration for decision). Appeal procedures also influence outcomes. <sup>16</sup> There is no clear evidence that social consensus in the Nordic countries in favour of the active approach to labour market policy obviates the need for sanctions: Finland and Norway, like other OECD countries, have to apply sanctions in order to achieve high rates of ALMP placement and implement strict suitable work criteria.

# AN INDEX FOR THE STRICTNESS OF BENEFIT ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA?

The Danish Ministry of Finance (Ministry of Finance, 1998) recently constructed an index for the strictness of eligibility criteria based on a limited number of indicators: independent job-search requirements; occupational mobility and geographic mobility criteria for suitable work (the latter including both travel to work and relocation); and the standard duration of benefit sanctions following voluntary quits and refusals of job offers. This section advances two main observations: first, it is not always easy to compare these eligibility criteria, and other criteria tend to be even less comparable, so it will be difficult to construct a much better index for the relative "strictness" of the criteria as they appear in legislation than the Ministry of Finance one; and second, if the aim is to guide policy or help explain international differences in unemployment rates, an indicator focusing on a concept closer to "tightness" or "effectiveness" of eligibility criteria, including implementation arrangements, would be more appropriate and it would classify countries rather differently.

An attempt at measuring the overall "strictness" of legislation involves scoring strictness in selected specific areas and weighting these partial results together. However, legislation can be obscure:

- some legislation (e.g. in the Czech Republic and Spain) is generally worded and does not mention, for example, whether part-time work, casual work, shift work and night work are considered suitable;
- even legislation that is quite developed in detail often contains ambiguous or partial treatments of specific issues, such as geographic mobility and the practical content of active job search requirements; and

- legislation may include broadly worded statements (e.g. that the unemployed person "must use all possible ways to end his joblessness" in Germany and "must permanently and effectively seek work" in France) which on a literal reading are clearly "strict". However, courts commonly refuse to pronounce benefit sanctions on the basis of these phrases alone in concrete situations (e.g. when someone who has refused an offer of work abroad, or has failed to maintain a diary record of job applications).

At the national level, jurisprudence may clarify how some standard situations are likely to be treated if they are brought before the courts, but no suitable comparative summary of jurisprudence is available.<sup>17</sup>

Any ranking of countries for the "strictness" of their legal provisions will be fairly sensitive to the weighting system applied to the components of the index, because strictness in one area is quite often balanced by relative laxity in another. For example, Spain is very strict in relation to voluntary quits but may be rather lax in other respects. Australia and the United Kingdom provide rather limited occupational and wage protection but go furthest in accommodating conscientious and religious objections to work. Similarly, Finland and Norway define suitable work strictly, but impose few requirements for independent job search.

Although "strictness" at the level of legislation is a concept of interest in its own right, it is unlikely to capture the overall impact of eligibility criteria requirements on unemployment levels well, because variations in implementation are very large. Implementation in general has declined to rather low levels at some times and in some countries: in a given country at a given time, some eligibility criteria may be effectively implemented while others have only limited practical relevance. As mentioned above, suitable work criteria have practical relevance mainly to the extent that the PES uses a specific method of job-broking (i.e. the direct referral of job seekers to specific job vacancies that the PES has selected for them).

The formal strictness of legislation will be misleading as a guide to its actual impact if the formal strictness results from, or provokes, infrequent implementation. Starting from the observation that the strictest requirements – for example, that the unemployed person should accept jobs involving up to fours hours of commuting per day – will in some circumstances be unreasonable, the following observations are relevant:

- In countries where legislation is consistently implemented, everyday practice regularly throws up individual cases where the general rules appear unreasonable and experts are kept busy developing exception clauses.<sup>18</sup> The absence of such exception clauses, although it makes the legislation stricter in a formal sense, could merely indicate that the strict general rule is rarely applied.

- Even if courts do in contested cases support a literal interpretation of strict general rules (e.g. that all unemployed must accept almost any legal job), employment counsellors will be reluctant to initiate sanctions each time that this is possible. But if sanctions are only infrequently implemented, their application in any individual case will seem arbitrary. If employment services develop approximate unwritten rules about when they do and do not apply their sanction powers, as long as these rules are out of line with general legislation they cannot be codified and employment counsellors will continue to face a large degree of personal responsibility and uncertainty as to what standards apply. For such reasons, actual implementation may become unnecessarily troublesome and infrequent.

In summary, "effective" legislation has characteristics which facilitate implementation, such as reasonableness and clarity in relation to detailed specific situations, and these will often not be consistent with extreme "strictness".

Given the variability in implementation, an overall indicator for the impact of eligibility criteria should incorporate some direct indicator of implementation. However there are some difficulties in using sanction rates for this purpose. Legal strictness and implementation indicators interact in a multiplicative rather than an additive way (e.g. a strict legal definition of suitable work is irrelevant if there is no implementation of this criterion), and data rarely report sanctions by detailed reason in ways that would allow such sophisticated calculations. A more basic difficulty is that sanction rates are not a direct indicator of implementation. Sanction rates are highest when levels of monitoring and levels of non-compliance are both high. If communication and information errors are minimised (i.e. when the unemployed are well informed about requirements and monitoring procedures reliably detect noncompliance), compliance may be high with a fairly low sanction rate. 19 From this point of view, the frequency of PES interventions that might detect non-compliance could be a better indicator of implementation than the actual incidence of sanctions that results. Often the PES has adequate legal authority for its behavioural requirements, and their impact is mainly a function of the frequency of interventions that take place under this authority (e.a. how often job-seekers are called to interview, referred to vacant jobs or asked to report their job search activities).

An international comparison of the "strictness" of eligibility criteria also raises some issues of "reverse causality". In some countries legislation may not give detailed powers to the PES because its general powers are found to be adequate.<sup>20</sup> A favourable overall employment or unemployment situation may encourage the legislator to be more "lax" in some areas and "stricter" in others. Strict eligibility provisions in Belgium and Spain (four hours travel-to-work time in Belgium, voluntary quit is never justified in Spain and sanctions for any infraction are very severe in both countries) suggest a political perception that people are lucky to have any job or job offer at all, and are, therefore, never justified in abandoning or

rejecting it. Apparently lax eligibility requirements for benefits (e.g. those which make allowance for child-care problems) will be developed in countries where many people with constraints on availability (e.g. people with child-care problems or mildly disabled older workers) have jobs – which is a necessary condition for a high overall level of employment. And requirements for independent job search appear mainly in countries with relatively flexible labour markets (Australia, Switzerland, the United Kingdom and the United States) where job vacancies are in any case easier to find.

Much of the information about eligibility criteria that is available relates only to unemployment insurance benefits, which vary in their duration and coverage. A general principle of allowing the unemployed to refuse work that involves a change of occupation, for example, would be a fairly standard arrangement when applied to a benefit that lasts six months or less, but a relatively "lax" arrangement if applied to a benefit that lasts two years or more. In many countries, a significant proportion of the unemployed receives a separate assistance benefit (e.g. municipal social assistance, or the RMI in France) so labour-market-behavioural eligibility criteria for these benefits should be taken into account. Eligibility criteria for assistance benefits vary greatly in terms of strictness, clarity and implementation, but it is often difficult to get detailed information about them.

# EVIDENCE FOR THE IMPACT OF ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA

Do eligibility requirements and sanctions reduce unemployment? They will most directly affect unemployment as measured by the number of people with benefits. In countries with high benefit coverage, a long-term change in beneficiary numbers may typically be associated with a change in unemployment according to the standard ILO definition that is at least half as big, although the link may be erratic and it needs further research. The potential importance of eligibility requirements of an "exclusion" nature is illustrated by experience in Canada, where benefit payments to seasonal workers (who are often not really available for work during the slack season) are a major and persistent concern, 21 and in Belgium, where a substantial proportion of benefits goes to mothers with child-care responsibilities (who are often not really available for full-time work). Their experience suggests that defining these groups as ineligible, or at least tightly defining when they are eligible, as some other countries do, could have quite a large impact on the beneficiary population. The impact of "exclusion" clauses is generally taken for granted in the sense that analysts have pointed to restrictive changes in entitlement and eligibility criteria as influences on benefit coverage in the United States during the 1980s and in Canada during the 1990s, and as an influence on registered unemployment in the United Kingdom in the 1980s. But as far as benefit coverage is concerned, entitlement conditions influence outcomes more than eligibility conditions.<sup>22</sup>

Evaluations of labour market programmes often provide information about the impact of "behavioural" eligibility requirements, but relatively few evaluations directly assess whether the compulsory or non-compulsory nature of participation modified its impact or generated "disutility" or "entry" effects. Some relevant findings include:

- Compulsory intensive interviews can reduce the volume of benefit claims. Administrative experience has often been that the introduction of a procedure for interviewing unemployed people (when such a procedure was previously little used) can lead to 5-10 per cent of benefit claims being dropped (OECD, 1994, p. 203 cites several examples). Dolton and O'Niell (1996) also report from an experiment conducted in 1989 in Britain that the treatment of dropping the 25-minute Restart interview normally conducted at 6 months reduced hazard rates out of unemployment over the next five to six months by 20 to 30 per cent.
- Job-search requirements for UI benefits in the United States appear to yield significant cost savings, as has been confirmed in a number of experiments conducted in co-operation with employment services in several states. One experiment in Maryland found that increasing the required number of employer contacts from two to four per week also resulted in substantially reduced UI payments (OECD, 1999b, p. 61).
- Long-term labour market programmes (e.g. four-six months vocational training or work experience programmes) reduce open unemployment through the mechanical effect of participation itself, but there is mixed evidence on whether they reduce total unemployment. In Finland and Sweden, the general policy of placing the long-term unemployed into labour market programmes lasting about 6 months (substantially modified around 1993 in Finland) does not appear to have succeeded in keeping total unemployment down. But there is room for debate about how far these programmes should be interpreted as "compulsory": according to the "carousel" argument, these programmes may have increased unemployment because participation in them creates a right to a new period of benefits. In Denmark, the general policy of placing the long-term unemployed continuously into active measures for three years corresponds more clearly to the concept of an "onerous condition" for the continued receipt of benefit and this seems to be more successful, at least for the moment. Most unemployed appear to drop their benefit claim in one way or another long before expiration of this three-year "active period of benefit".<sup>23</sup>

Various further specific "behavioural" requirements in benefit eligibility criteria have rarely, if ever, been evaluated in any systematic way. This applies to the suitable work criteria which oblige the unemployed to move to a different area, change occupation or accept a lower wage. Only the United Kingdom and

Switzerland, among the countries whose legislation has been examined here, have a "pilot scheme" clause in benefit legislation which would, in principle, allow experimental relaxation of such requirements for particular individuals or local areas.

A few studies provide some evidence on the impact of benefit sanctions. Abbring et al. (1999) found in 1992 data from the Netherlands that (after controlling for heterogeneity and modelling the probability that individuals would receive a sanction) the imposition of a sanction on unemployed people raised the subsequent transition rate to employment by 77 per cent in the metal sector and 107 per cent in the banking sector. Van den Berg et al. (1999) conducted a similar analysis in data for unemployed people in Rotterdam who had previously worked and were receiving the assistance form of benefit during 1994-96. In this case, a sanction raised the transition rate from welfare to work by 140 per cent. The probability of leaving welfare within two years was estimated to be for one illustrative calculation (a young person) 0.66 without a sanction but 0.88 if a sanction is applied six months into the spell, and for another illustrative calculation (a 50-year-old) 0.29 without a sanction but 0.50 if a sanction is applied. The incentive to find work is automatically greater during the sanction period itself, but in these cases the sanctions were fairly mild (reductions rather than cessation of benefit). Sanctions may have encouraged exit by reducing the perceived utility of continuing unemployment (a second sanction may be perceived as more likely to occur, and likely to be more severe). The estimated impacts seem large, and tend to confirm that any significant risk of sanction may have quite a large impact on behaviour.

In the United States, a study "Explaining the Decline in Welfare Receipt, 1993-1996" (Council of Economic Advisers, 1997) was regularly cited in the media and by President Clinton as support for the welfare reform then being introduced. This study regressed the welfare (AFDC) caseload in United States states from 1976 to 1996 on the state levels of the benefit, the unemployment rate, and a series of indicators (dummy variables) marking whether or not the state had received federal waivers for various types of AFDC policy innovation over 1993-1996. (Because AFDC was a national programme, individual states had to ask for Federal approval to change the benefit eligibility criteria in their own state.) It concluded that out of six different types of waiver, the only change that had an significant impact was a waiver allowing stronger sanctions (in some cases, suspension of the entire family's grant) when individuals refused to participate in the national Job Opportunities and Basic Skills Training Program (JOBS). This estimated impact was large: although only 25 states had a sanctions waiver, these waivers were estimated to account for 20-30 per cent of the nation-wide fall in the number of welfare recipients over 1993-1996, more than half of the fall attributable to the general improvement in employment conditions over the same period. The interpretation of the apparent link between harsher sanctions and falls in welfare rolls has been challenged on various grounds, notably possible reverse causality (Martini and Wiseman, 1997). The states concerned could have been those with an effective JOBS programme ("in our experience it is primarily the agencies with something to offer recipients that feel justified in systematically pursuing and sanctioning those not participating"), or those where a decline in welfare caseload (along with an increase in vacancies and in unfilled places on the JOBS programme) was occurring for other reasons. Indeed, as was emphasised in a follow-up study (Council of Economic Advisers, 1999), the apparent statistical impact of sanction waivers often appeared a year before they were actually implemented.

In Switzerland, following a reform to the PES in 1995 which introduced regional placement offices (ORP), the Federal Council on 6 November 1996 ordered an evaluation of the functioning and the effectiveness of the new system. This evaluation (OFDE, 1999a), carried out by ATAG Ernst and Young Consulting, has a highprofile official status intended to guide further reform of the employment service. It is based on analysis of statistics relating to 125 of the ORP which were fully operating in 1997-98, and in-depth reviews of operations in nine of these ORP. The report states "given the extraordinarily detailed and precise data that were available for our calculations, we believe we have identified most exogenous influences" and that "The time it takes on the average to find new work remains very variable from one ORP to another even after correction has been made for exogenous factors. ... some of the best ORP have achieved their excellent results despite operating in a very unfavourable environment." The analysis evaluated the effectiveness of a number of placement strategies. As regards sanctions, the report found that sanctions per job seeker were 43 times higher in the ten ORP with the highest rates than in the ten ORP with the lowest rates, and concluded that benefit legislation was not being applied uniformly throughout Switzerland. It also found that "the duration of job search shows a significant negative correlation with the number of sanctions and the days of suspension of benefit per job-seeker", yet "there was no significant relationship between the extent of sanctions, and success in placing hard-to-place and long-term unemployed. More precisely, as far as placement of the long-term unemployed is concerned, several ORP with harsh sanction practices get negative results".

At a more qualitative level, the report found that the least-effective ORP fell into two categories: those which gave priority to placement of the easiest-to-place people; and those which were "passive and social". Both groups rarely applied sanctions. It found that in some ORP or cantons (benefits are administered mainly at the cantonal level) the implementation of a sanction takes several months, and recommended that employment counsellors should be able to implement sanctions independently and immediately, without any need for prior authorisation by another part of the organisation. It recommended a general strategy of "progressive reduction in freedom of choice in job-search" as the duration of unemployment continues. However, a few of the ORP had been able to achieve this with a below-average

incidence of sanctions. The report emphasised that sanctions have a negative effect, or no effect, if the job seeker is punished for violating rules he or she has not been told of or if the job seeker is unable to find and accept a job. It was important, therefore, to inform job seekers of their obligations and to apply sanctions only when unemployment was being voluntarily prolonged. Counselling interviews were of primordial importance, and a high frequency of counselling interviews per job-seeker was positively related with sanctions per job-seeker, successful placements and placements of the long-term unemployed.<sup>24</sup>

The Danish Ministry of Finance (Ministry of Finance, 1999) reports some cross-country regressions (for 19 countries) in which the 1994-1996 average unemployment rate is regressed on its index for the strictness of eligibility criteria and six or seven further explanatory variables (including the net replacement rate and the employment requirement to qualify for UI). Coefficients on this index were large (they indicated that Ireland could reduce its unemployment rate by about 5 percentage points if it adopted the eligibility criteria that prevail in the Netherlands or Sweden), and indeed Ministry of Finance (1999) commented that several of the reported coefficients seemed too large. Separate regressions suggested that eligibility criteria influence long-term unemployment more than short-term unemployment. The regressions suggested that strict benefit eligibility criteria offset the impact of a high replacement rate in some countries, such as the Netherlands and Sweden.<sup>25</sup>

Historical information about benefit eligibility criteria and their implementation in OECD countries is not available in any systematic form. However, Auer (2000, p. 70), in a study of four European countries that have enjoyed recent labour market success, observes "all resorted to a much stricter enforcement of job search and suitable work provisions". Considering four European countries where unemployment fell during the 1990s to around half of its earlier peak level (i.e. Denmark, Ireland, the Netherlands and the United Kingdom), three of the four clearly tightened their surveillance of benefit eligibility in the early to mid-1990s. In each case a general shift in attitudes and/or policy stance, which no doubt expressed itself in many ways, was involved. A few key events were:

– Denmark: starting in 1989 labour market criteria have been tightened through a succession of minor changes (e.g. in terms of the obligation on the unemployed to accept a change in occupation as mentioned above, and benefit sanctions for repeat refusals). In 1994, information systems were set up through which the Ministry of Labour could consult all communications from the placement service to the union insurance funds about refusal of work and similar problems. In 1995, a special "availability inspection unit" was set up to audit the sanction decisions of the insurance funds, and this unit began to publish quarterly reports analysing the "fault percentage" (i.e. mainly failures to impose benefit sanctions which should have been imposed) of the funds. In 1994, the "active period of benefit" was introduced and it has been backed

up by legislation which makes exclusion from benefit the sanction for failure to accept referrals to programmes (see Ministry of Labour, 1999, for a further account).

- The Netherlands: starting in the late 1980s there was "a change in focus" which "led to a policy change with respect to the application of unemployment insurance sanctions ... over the period 1987 to 1994 ... the number of unemployment insurance benefit sanctions increased from 27 000 to 140 000". In relation to the assistance form of unemployment benefit, "By instruction of the Ministry of Social Affairs and Employment, the welfare agencies started to use sanctions as an instrument to stimulate re-employment of welfare recipients and as instrument against fraud at the end of 1992... Before 1992, sanctions were hardly ever used. By the mid-nineties, about 5 per cent of the welfare recipients in a given year received a sanction" (Abbring et al., 1999; van den Berg et al., 1999). In 1995, a new body with about 200 staff, the CTSV, was created "to control and supervise social security spending" in an attempt to "restore the 'primacy of politics' and curtail the 'primacy of industrial selforganisation' in the area of social security" (Visser and Hemerijck, 1997, p. 149). In 1996, legislation imposing harsher benefit sanctions was introduced: in the case of unemployment insurance, the sanction following a first instance of voluntary quit or refusal of work or labour market programme participation became exclusion from benefit (subject to an exception clause for cases where the person is not entirely to blame).
- The United Kingdom: obligatory Restart interviews were introduced in 1986, an "actively seeking work" eligibility condition for benefit was introduced in 1989, participation in a labour market programme (a one-week course for those who had been unemployed for two years) was made compulsory for the first time in 1991 and under the "Stricter Benefit Regime" an administrative drive led to a doubling of the number of sanctions in 1994/5 as compared with the preceding few years (Murray, 1995). In 1996 benefit legislation was radically overhauled, creating a clear-cut legal framework for processes that define and monitor availability, job-search and compliance with PES instructions.<sup>27</sup> In 1998, under the New Deal, participation in a labour market programme was made obligatory for all youth remaining unemployed after 6 months plus an additional four-month "gateway" period.

Although these three countries have reformed legislation during the 1990s, this does not mean that they have made their legislative requirements and sanction provisions uniformly strict in international comparative terms. <sup>28</sup> Many of the changes focused more on the operational implementation of benefit eligibility criteria, and were part of broader reforms aiming to activate the unemployed and improve the administration of social security benefits. They were already well under way in the early 1990s, before the main falls in the unemployment occurred, making it more

plausible that they actually caused much of the later falls in unemployment. In Ireland the first sharp falls in unemployment preceded the current drive to implement a greater degree of benefit conditionality which dates from 1996.<sup>29</sup>

Although empirical information remains rather patchy, it does suggest that experience with unemployment across OECD countries resembles US experience across states (in relation to welfare rolls, as discussed above). Some countries get into a "virtuous circle" with sustained falls in unemployment and tighter implementation of eligibility criteria. An obvious interpretation is that these developments reinforce each other. This syndrome would then represent the unwinding or reversing of the "vicious circle" which can set in after an adverse shock to the economy. 30 A recession - or indeed a structural shortage of vacancies - not only makes the monitoring of benefit eligibility criteria less effective (because there are fewer job vacancies and fewer PES staff per unemployed person), it may also encourage opposition to the general principle of monitoring benefit eligibility (on the argument that unemployed people are not responsible for their unemployment and that monitoring is futile because the lack of jobs is the real problem). But, if these ideas gain hold, the economy may enter a new equilibrium with high unemployment and lax application of benefit eligibility criteria persisting alongside each other for a long period.

#### IMPLEMENTATION ISSUES

Institutional arrangements and procedures for implementing benefit eligibility criteria vary greatly between countries. In Australia, Belgium, Finland, Ireland, and the United Kingdom, the benefit administration and placement functions of the PES come under different ministries. But in the United Kingdom, the functions are integrated at the local office level, and in Finland, established procedures make it relatively easy for the placement service to initiate sanctions. In countries such as Germany, Greece, Japan, Norway and Spain, the benefit and placement functions are united under a single labour market agency which reports to a single ministry, but in several cases offices and staff working on benefit administration are nevertheless largely separated from those working on placement within the same organisation. Thus, it is difficult to predict, on the basis of the institutional hierarchy, what degree of functional integration exists between benefit and placement work.

Most commonly, sanction and eligibility decisions are initiated (subject to appeal) by employment counsellors. In some countries, the counsellor can, in principle, decide directly (although counsellors commonly discuss cases with the local office manager). In other countries, the employment counsellor formally only notifies the evidence to a separate benefit administration, which takes the actual decision. In the United Kingdom, specialist benefit adjudication officers decide usually on the basis of written evidence, and in some other countries the benefit

administration interviews the person prior to imposing any sanction. One danger with such arrangements is that delays between events and sanction decisions based on them may become excessive.

In some instances, institutional arrangements call for sanctions to be initiated by people without very direct knowledge of the local labour market situation. Job search is evaluated by separate bodies in Denmark (union insurance funds), Ireland (the social welfare ministry), France (the state, although placement is a responsibility of another body, ANPE), and (until recently) Switzerland (insurance funds). This is unlikely to be an efficient arrangement (except possibly in Denmark, where some of the funds claim to know their members' labour market better than the PES and France, where the state body is the supervisory authority) because PES officers with access to more detailed register information and local labour market information would normally be better placed to know whether the person has failed to take advantage of suitable job vacancies.

Many ALMPs are run by private sector organisations. They typically see their role as providing help to the unemployed, and are reluctant to take on unwilling participants or to report non-attendance or misbehaviour.<sup>31</sup> However, when the PES purchases provision from a competitive market,<sup>32</sup> it can insist that AMLP providers should accept referrals and report non-attendance, etc.

Australia has recently privatised the placement function for the great majority of the unemployed. Contracts with private providers of placement services do not give them direct financial incentives to report evidence of ineligibility for benefit (e.g. refusal of suitable work), but they do give an incentive to achieve rapid placements. One pattern is that private providers negotiate an individual action plan with the unemployed person, which is submitted to the public body for approval and then acquires legal force. This allows private providers to specify (within certain limits) eligibility requirements on an individual basis designed to increase the chances of a placement, and it may, in turn, encourage the private providers to report any infractions to Centrelink for a potential sanction decision.

#### POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Most existing national legislation governing eligibility criteria is strict in principle in the sense that the unemployed after a certain duration of unemployment are required to accept all legal work they can do without occupational or wage protection (although geographic mobility is less often required). However some countries exempt rather large labour market groups (e.g. workers aged over 50) from these requirements, or lack any comparable structure of eligibility criteria and related sanction provisions for assistance-type benefits (e.g. the RMI in France), and it could be worth reconsidering situations of this kind. At the same time, requirements

need to be relaxed in specific circumstances, *e.g.* for people who have child-care responsibilities, if they are to be consistent with a high overall level of labour market participation. Overall, there should be moderately strict general requirements accompanied by exception clauses for groups that would find it particularly difficult to comply. Detailed guidelines, which should assist PES staff in making eligibility or sanction decisions and be clear to the unemployed themselves, cannot be developed if basic legislation is out of line with what is operationally practicable.

The greatest impact of eligibility criteria on unemployment levels may arise when the behavioural requirements are quite onerous and offset much of the utility gained from receipt of unemployment benefit, thus converting the benefit into a shadow "wage" paid in return for effective job search and related activity. Although parliaments have generally taken a strict attitude in relation to the obligation to work and perceived abuses of the benefit system in the abstract, legislative support for PES monitoring mechanisms and behavioural requirements is more often rather patchy. Yet many benefit eligibility criteria can only be effectively implemented through PES procedures, and conversely most PES procedures for "activation" of the unemployed need a clear legal basis to make them effective. It is often easy to identify areas where coherence between legislation and PES practice is inadequate. Many countries could introduce more precise legal obligations for co-operation with individual action plan procedures, reporting of independent job search, and compliance with instructions from the PES, and could reform institutional arrangements and responsibilities in order to improve the implementation of eligibility criteria. Such reforms might help some more countries to embark on or prolong a virtuous circle of a trend decline in the aggregate unemployment rate accompanied by increasingly active interventions in individual spells of unemployment, such as a few OECD countries have already experienced during the 1990s.

#### **NOTES**

- Layard (1988) claimed "the correlation of unemployment duration with unemployment benefits is predicted by almost every known model of unemployment". Strictly speaking, unemployment benefits may only be predicted to increase unemployment as measured by the number of beneficiaries: to the extent that benefits discourage job search, they might reduce unemployment as measured by the standard international definition.
- 2. What are called "entitlement" conditions for benefit here are sometimes called "monetary" conditions for eligibility in the United States literature.
- 3. The case for excluding seasonal workers from unemployment benefit involves considerations such as the insurance principle (foreseeable events should be excluded), need (seasonal workers may not need or merit extra help), the practical possibilities for documenting whether people are in the group or not and whether alternative work for them during the slack season.
- 4. Ljungqvist and Sargent (1995, Section 3.3) present a model of this type.
- 5. Unemployed people may respond to a behavioural requirement partly through substantive compliance (which increases the chance of finding work) and partly through dissimulation. Extreme behavioural requirements may have a negative impact on job-finding chances if, for example, there is a requirement for full-time participation in an active labour market programme which is inherently ineffective and reduces the time available for job search. In general models, unemployment depends upon the wage-bargaining behaviour of employed workers as well as the search behaviour of the unemployed: as long as benefit provide effective insurance against unemployment, employed workers will show less restraint in wage bargaining.
- 6. UI legislation in Austria states that work is suitable only if it does not render a return to a person's original occupation considerably more difficult, and in practice occupational mobility is not usually required. However entitlements to UI here are relatively short (20 to 52 weeks), and no occupational protection applies to the unemployment assistance benefit. Protection in relation to the previous wage is less common: see note 29 concerning Ireland.
- 7. Some readers may have an impression that direct referral is an archaic procedure, of mainly historic importance in the age of the Internet. In reality, direct referral procedures are still quite widely used. For example, in Table 2, annual sanctions for refusal of suitable work exceed 1 per cent of the stock of (beneficiary) unemployment in five of the nine countries: assuming that only one direct referral in a hundred typically results in a benefit sanction for refusal of suitable work (administrative records in Denmark give a figure of this order), these countries must be making at least one direct referral per beneficiary-year. The number of direct referrals can sometimes be estimated in other

ways (e.g. asking PES administrators what proportion of vacancies are filled by directly referral techniques and how many unemployed are referred to each such vacancy) and this method also suggests that at least half of OECD countries make one or more direct referrals per beneficiary-year, ranging up to five or more per year in a few cases. So a person who appears reasonably employable but stays unemployed for some time (e.g. six months) is fairly likely to be directed to apply for at least one specific job vacancy. Once the PES has made a direct referral, procedures for feedback from the employer (e.g. to check that the person did turn up for interview, and did not appear to deliberately fail the interview, etc.) are often fairly tight.

- 8. Participation in public works schemes that pay standard hourly rates, but with weekly hours determined in such a way that total pay does not much exceed unemployment benefit, can generally be made compulsory although in France, jurisprudence on the question of whether part-time work is "suitable" is mixed. In Canada, the UI Act states explicitly that no claimant can be disentitled for refusing employment on a job creation project.
- 9. Continental European countries, other than the Netherlands and Switzerland, do not require frequent reporting of independent job-search. This is certainly related to a historical view of PES work in which all vacancies should be reported to the PES (many countries had, and some still do have, a legal requirement on employers to report all vacancies to the PES) and the PES should directly manage the allocation of them to the unemployed. The PES has often partly abandoned direct referral methods (i.e. it more often fills vacancies by advertising methods) but independent job-search requirements may still be seen as inappropriate for other reasons (e.g. they are regarded as oppressive and futile in situations where few vacancies are available and employers already have too many candidates).
- 10. In all countries examined here except Belgium and possibly France, legislation and guidelines make it clear that any kind of behaviour or statement that deliberately discourages a potential employer can be assimilated to refusal of work and sanctioned even though no actual job offer has been made.
- 11. Finn *et al.* (1998, pp. 28-31) report that many unemployed people in the United Kingdom do not know exactly what legislation requires of them, but are likely to co-operate with suggestions from PES staff because they fear that a sanction might otherwise be applied.
- 12. If the incidence of long-term unemployment (over six months and over 12 months) is modelled assuming one fixed hazard rate during the first six months and another thereafter, the expected further duration of unemployment is about seven months at month zero and 14 months from month 6 onwards, for a country where the incidence of unemployment over six months is 50 per cent. Durations are typically somewhat lower in data for registered unemployment (see OECD, 1994, Statistical Annex).
- 13. Many countries also impose strict benefit sanctions for benefit fraud, *e.g.* failure to report paid work while claiming benefit.
- 14. In Japan, the period of sanction following a voluntary quit runs from the time of the initial application for benefit, so people who have quit work have an incentive to apply immediately despite the sanction. In New Zealand, the sanction period runs from the time of the quit irrespective of when the benefit application is made, so people who are certain that they will be sanctioned have no incentive to apply (until the end of the sanction period) and administrative statistics understate the effective number of sanctions. Possibly the statistics in Table 2 suffer from this problem.

- 15. Even though self-service is the main job-broking technique used by the PES in the United Kingdom and the United States, specialised literature also describes "case management" procedures in these countries. In the United Kingdom, two programmes involving up to six or seven (usually fortnightly) interviews with the long-term unemployed each had about 200 000 participants in a recent year (Finn *et al.*, 1998, p. 82) and direct matches in this context could easily generate the reported number of sanctions for refusal of work. It may also be the case that low pay often provokes refusals of work in the United Kingdom and the United States and that this is less often an issue in Denmark and Germany, where pay for PES vacancies must be in line with industry collective agreements.
- 16. Although appeal procedures are not described here, in some countries a large proportion of initial sanction decisions are appealed and are overturned or withdrawn at administrative discretion.
- 17. In the field of employment protection legislation, standard situations such as the dismissal of a worker with given years of tenure, mean broadly the same thing in each country, and the workers involved often claim as much as possible. As a result, academic studies and reports by international management consultancies have summarised notice and severance pay requirements that apply to dismissals even for countries where legislation itself is unclear. This makes comparisons relatively easy (cf. Grubb and Wells, 1994; OECD, 1999a). The situation in relation to unemployment benefit legislation remains much more obscure e.g. unclear aspects of legislation may never have been tested in court and international comparative data sources are not available.
- 18. Norway has detailed guidelines describing circumstances under which the requirement for geographic mobility may be relaxed (e.g. when the job seeker has children of school age, who have already moved and changed school once). The existence of such guidelines tends to confirm that the general requirement for mobility is quite often applied. In some other countries individual circumstances may be taken into account through jurisprudence, but rules developed this way may not take into account the needs of labour market policy.
- 19. Although sanction rates cannot always be a reliable guide to the extent of enforcement of an eligibility criterion, it does seem reasonable to interpret very low sanction rates (e.g. when less than one in a thousand referrals to jobs are followed by a sanction for refusal) as indicating a lack of enforcement. Increases in sanction rates in the Netherlands and the United Kingdom can be cited as evidence of a drive to improve enforcement. Nevertheless, in an international comparative context a 2 per cent sanction rate may enforce eligibility criteria more effectively than a 5 per cent rate: too many other things will not be equal.
- 20. In both Norway and Finland, the PES attempts to implement an "action plan" procedure and to monitor independent job search (e.g. encouraging the unemployed to keep a job-search booklet documenting the job applications they have made) without specific legislation to enforce these measures. This arrangement seems to work reasonably well in Norway but less so in Finland. In Norway (where suitable work criteria are strict and direct referrals to vacancies are relatively frequent), the unemployed may perceive a greater incentive to co-operate with suggestions made by PES officers because the PES decides what kind of job offers will be made.
- 21. In relation to the Earnings Supplement Project for seasonal workers in Canada (see the paper by Greenwood and Voyer in this volume) "Researchers ... said the biggest blow was in the fact that most of the people consulted did not consider themselves unemployed and did not want to look for new work" (Globe and Mail, 17 June 1999). Doubtless this kind of experience has led some countries to make seasonal workers ineligible for benefit.

- 22. International variations in benefit coverage appear to be driven by entitlement conditions more than by eligibility conditions (*e.g.* benefit coverage in the United States is low as compared within European countries primarily because of the prior-work requirements and the six-month limit on benefit duration).
- 23. Many reports show behavioural responses to training and work requirements. Denmark's youth package, under which benefits are not payable to youth on a passive basis for more than six months, increases transitions from unemployment into schooling and to a lesser extent into employment (Jensen *et al.*, 1999). In Ireland, when young people who had been unemployed for 6 months were first required to take up a job or training or risk losing benefit, in November 1998, between four and five out of ten stopped claiming (see references below). In Wisconsin, just over a half of prospective welfare clients in January 1998 dropped their application when informed of requirements for the benefit, about 10 per cent declining to enter because of the work requirements, which apply from the start of a claim (OECD, 1999*b*, p. 169).
- 24. Although OFDE (1999*a*, pp. 52-54) found that counselling interviews improved outcomes, it also noted that they are resource-intensive and that the most successful ORP had reduced the general frequency of counselling interviews in order to increase their intensity in targeted cases and release time for other work.
- 25. Reported regressions which explain unemployment across countries using multiple explanatory variables are usually the tip of a large iceberg of possible alternative specifications which were not followed up or reported by the researchers. Often the equation actually reported has an implausibly tight statistical fit, given the size of known errors in the input data and short- and medium-term fluctuations in unemployment rates. The real significance of such findings is not clear.
- 26. The basic eligibility requirements that the person must register for employment, be capable of work and available for work and accept suitable work, go back to the inception of unemployment benefit systems. OECD reviews of national manpower policies published between 1963 and 1977 report some detailed eligibility criteria which resemble those considered here: for example in Sweden a benefit sanction applied in the case where a person "without expressly refusing a job, has clearly acted in such a way as to prevent his employment" (OECD, 1963) and in Belgium "a job is deemed to be suitable if it corresponds to the normal job of the person concerned; where unemployment is prolonged, the requirement becomes less strict" (OECD, 1971). In some cases benefit sanctions were shorter than today, no doubt related to the fact that unemployment spells were shorter. Implementation may have varied more sharply than the basic criteria. In 1969 the rapporteur of an OECD Working Party noted disapprovingly that "the employment office is sometimes regarded as an adjunct of the unemployment insurance system and as a legalistic institution when it becomes excessively involved in matters turning on statutory requirements such as eligibility for benefits, disqualifications for benefits, and tests of 'suitable' employment", and claimed that past experience had shown the use of compulsory powers to be self-defeating (Levine, 1969), and some other OECD publications from this period reflect such a view. A detailed study and manual for the employment service issued by the ILO stated that employment counsellors should "act as a guardian" of the job seeker's qualifications, and never refer job seekers to less qualified jobs (Ricca, 1982, p. 140). On average, the attention given to enforcement of eligibility criteria probably declined in the 1970s and 1980s, and increased again in the 1990s.
- 27. The UK government elected in 1997 eased the implementation of benefit sanctions, but through the New Deal it made entry into longer-term work, training or related measures compulsory for all unemployed beyond a certain duration of unemployment.

- 28. Ministry of Finance (1998) scores both Denmark and the United Kingdom below the OECD average in terms of the overall strictness of benefit eligibility criteria, a measure that includes the duration of benefit sanctions. It scores the Netherlands relatively highly due mainly to its new sanction regime for UI (although many unemployed here receive assistance benefits, for which the sanction regime is much milder).
- 29. In Ireland, by late 1996, although unemployment as measured by the labour force survey had already fallen sharply from its peak, the total number of benefit claims had fallen hardly at all. Investigation of this paradox eventually led to an anti-fraud drive. At the same time, Ireland began to require some groups of unemployment beneficiaries to register with employment offices (OECD, 1998, pp. 135-147). In April 1997 existing administrative guidelines on availability were published for the first time, and in June 1998 legislation was extensively amended through new Regulations on Availability and Genuinely Seeking Work (S.I. No.137 of 1998). These dropped earlier clauses allowing refusal of work at a rate of remuneration lower than habitually obtained (as reported in Ministry of Finance, 1998) and specified, for example, that job seekers must in the current economic climate be prepared to change occupation after three months of unemployment and must show that they have taken reasonable steps to secure employment. At the end of 1998 young people were required after six months of unemployment to take up a job or training or risk loss of benefit (website www.cidb.ie, items under Social welfare/Unemployment Assistance/General and Mediascan). Despite moves in this direction, the implementation of eligibility criteria remains less vigorous than in, for example, the United Kingdom.
- 30. Tight benefit eligibility criteria and implementation of them might help explain why Norway has kept unemployment low in the 1990s while Sweden and Finland succumbed to adverse shocks. Although Norway and Sweden have similarly strict suitable work requirements, they have different institutional arrangements: a recent report by Sweden's the National Audit Office (RRV, 1999) concludes that institutional arrangements are a fundamental obstacle to the development of effective control mechanisms for unemployment insurance and leave room for wide fluctuations in the interpretation and application of suitable work criteria, and that the application of suitable work criteria should be overhauled as an urgent matter of national significance. In Finland, eligibility criteria are not so strict in certain respects (e.g. requirements for geographic and occupational mobility) and some general concerns about their effectiveness have been expressed (e.g. the central duties of the job-seeker arising from unemployment security "do not require him to show initiative or activity in job-seeking" and are "more appropriate for managing short-time and temporary unemployment rather than employment situation our country has today", according to Räisänen and Skog, 1998).
- 31. The behaviour of programme providers may help explain the common tendency for eligibility requirements to tighten when labour market conditions improve. As the number of voluntary participants in programmes falls, providers may have to take on more difficult clients and drop any opposition to compulsory referrals if they are to stay in business.
- 32. An employment services market which is competitive in the sense that the unemployed can select among providers, and funding follows them, has different implications from one where the PES selects among providers. In Switzerland the unemployed can choose among UI funds, and competition for business among the private sector funds may be leading them to impose fewer benefit sanctions than the public sector funds (OFDE, 1999b).

#### **Appendix**

# SOME INTERNATIONAL DIFFERENCES IN ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA FOR UNEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

Information in this Appendix is based upon legislation and related guidelines and refers to eleven countries: Australia, Belgium, Czech Republic, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Norway, Spain, Switzerland, and the United Kingdom. Some errors may remain in the descriptions, particularly errors of omission (*i.e.* the cases cited may not represent a comprehensive listing of all that could be cited).

#### Loss of work and its timing

Seasonal and intermittent work. Finland, and probably some other countries, pay benefits to seasonal workers without reservations. However, the authorities in many other countries appear reluctant to do this. In Denmark and France, seasonal workers may be entirely disqualified from benefit during the slack period. In Australia and Switzerland, an extended waiting period may be applied. However, no country has found a very satisfactory operational definition of seasonal work or intermittent work. Switzerland includes in the concept of self-inflicted unemployment the leaving of a job that is likely to be long-term in order to take another which the person knows, or ought to know, is likely to be short-term. Guidelines in the United Kingdom are similar.

Part-time work. In some cases, unemployment benefits are payable during short-time work (when the employment contract has not been broken, but hours of work have been reduced). Benefits are payable only if weekly working hours are reduced by at least 7.4 hours in Denmark, at least 25 per cent in Finland and at least 40 per cent in Norway. Wholly unemployed people who take part-time work can often retain beneficiary status (subject to the impact of earnings on the amount of benefit payable), but in Germany only if the work is for less than 15 hours per week.

Self-employment, unpaid family work and household production. Most countries have strict requirements for proof that a self-employment activity has terminated, or apply an additional waiting period before unemployment benefit is payable. A few countries have strict or detailed legislation about family work, unpaid work and household production: in Belgium, work on renovating a property with a view to selling it is incompatible with the receipt of benefits; in France, there are specific limits on the amount of agricultural land that an unemployed person can cultivate; and in Spain, benefit is incompatible with any form of self-employment. Most countries have no such formal restrictions on the amount of household production for personal consumption during unemployment, and in the United Kingdom work on a community self-build housing project has been ruled to be compatible with the receipt of benefits.

#### **Voluntary quits**

In Spain, jobs quits for any reason unrelated to the behaviour of the employer lead to loss of the entire benefit entitlement. But most other countries recognise that a quit which leads to unemployment, and which appears to be voluntary from the point of view of the employer, may be involuntary from the point of view of the individual.

Suitable-work-type criteria often justify quits (e.g. if a change in transport facilities has made the journey to work unacceptably long, if the person has a health problem leaving them unable to continue in the current job or if the person needs to change job in order to permit care for relatives). Criteria for quitting are sometimes stricter than the criteria for accepting suitable work (e.g. voluntary quit from a job paid on commission or involving lengthy transport to work may be sanctioned even though the person in question could not be required to take such a job starting from an unemployed status).

Quit when moving home with a spouse who is taking up work in a different area is generally not sanctioned. Norway is an exception (i.e. an extended waiting period would normally be applied in this case), and in the United Kingdom claimants must show they have done everything reasonably possible to find employment which they will be able to start immediately in the new area.

Quit during a trial period. Voluntary quit provisions may dissuade people from taking up a new job because the new job may turn out to be unexpectedly unpleasant or impractical and yet the person will be sanctioned if they leave it. In France and the United Kingdom, benefit sanctions are automatically inapplicable in certain predefined cases of quits during the early months of a new job.

### Availability for work

Delay before taking up work and hours available for work are tightly defined in some countries. A requirement that the unemployed must be available to start work within 24 hours and be willing to accept shift work, for example, allows the PES to guarantee (to employers) the speed of referrals and the filling of shift-work vacancies. As a general rule the United Kingdom requires the unemployed to be able to start work immediately, whereas France allows a week's delay, in that the person is allowed to be away for this long without informing the PES.

Family responsibilities and voluntary work may be associated with limited availability for work, or lead to a suspicion that the person does not really want market work (i.e. prefers to continue combining voluntary work or child care with an income from unemployment benefit). In most countries, permissible hours of voluntary work are restricted in some way, independently of any direct evidence that they reduce availability for market work. Many countries vary availability requirements in some way in the presence of child care constraints, but there is very little consistency across countries. Some countries shift mothers onto a different benefit or a variant form of unemployment benefit. Thus, Denmark has a separate part-time UI system, where benefit levels are lower, for part-time workers, and Belgium has created a separate benefit (not requiring availability for work, with claim duration limited to five years) for people with family responsibilities, at a slightly benefit lower level. Where regular unemployment benefit is still received, availability requirements may be relaxed. In the United Kingdom, people with childcare responsibilities can restrict their availability to part-time work. In several countries, the allowable delay before taking up work is increased for people who will need to find alternative child care. At the same time, in

Australia the PES interprets receipt of a parenting allowance by the job-seeker's partner as a risk factor that may require increased surveillance of job search.

#### Suitable work

"Suitable work" here means work that a person cannot refuse without risking a benefit sanction. Many issues arise in defining it.

Working conditions and type of work. In Finland and Norway, the unemployed must generally accept shift work and night work, whereas in Belgium night work is not generally considered suitable. Several countries allow people with availability restrictions (child care constraints, disability) to restrict search to jobs with a suitable schedule, and in the United Kingdom all unemployed can specify such a restriction, provided that a sufficient number of jobs will still be available after this restriction. All countries consider casual or temporary work to be suitable, although some have only recently legislated to make this explicit. Most countries consider part-time work suitable as long as net income (including partial unemployment benefit) is not reduced by entering work, but in the United Kingdom the unemployed can reject jobs of less than 24 hours per week. In France, apprentice contracts are considered suitable work, though they may pay below the minimum wage. Some countries specify that work paid only on commission is not suitable. Only Australia (under its action plan, Newstart Activity Agreement) and Norway have an explicit basis for disqualifying a person who insists upon seeking dependent employment when he or she could make a living through self-employment.

Travel to work time and cost, and geographic mobility. In standard cases, work involving up to two hours per day of travel-to-work time is considered suitable in the United Kingdom, up to three hours in Australia, Germany and Denmark (first three months of unemployment), and up to four hours per day in Belgium and Switzerland. Several countries cite no specific figure. In Norway, the unemployed are generally required to accept work anywhere in the country, so the question of excessive travel-to-work time does not arise. In France and Germany, relocation can be required unless family life would be unduly disturbed and in Spain it can be required if suitable accommodation can be found. In Australia and the United Kingdom, a placement involving relocation can be considered suitable if there is little prospect of finding a job without relocation (although in neither country are the guidelines on this point very clear). In Finland, such a placement can be suitable only if the vacancy in question cannot be filled locally. However, in several other countries legislation never mentions geographic relocation and the limits on reasonable travel-to-work time presumably take precedence.

Occupational and wage protection. In France, work incompatible with the beneficiary's work specialisation or previous training is never considered suitable, although this is interpreted with some flexibility and work with wages 20 to 30 per cent lower than the previous job may be considered suitable. Work outside the usual occupation is not considered suitable during the first three months of unemployment in Denmark, Finland and the United Kingdom and during the first six months in Belgium. In Australia, Germany and Norway, work in a different occupation is considered suitable from the first day of unemployment. Wage protection (except in the sense that the work must be paid according to collectively bargained rates) is relatively unusual although Germany and the United Kingdom allow some wage protection for 6 months (in Germany, work paying more than 20 per cent below previous earnings during the first 3 months and more than 30 per cent below during the next 3 months is not suitable).

Conscientious and religious objections. Australia, Belgium and the United Kingdom state clearly that work inconsistent with sincere and genuinely-held moral or religious convictions (e.g. work on Sundays, arms production, etc.) is not suitable. Finland and Norway state that religious and ethical convictions are not generally grounds for refusing suitable work, and in

many other countries' legislation, the person has no legal grounds for refusal because legislation never mentions the issue. Administrators tend to assert, however, that in practice appropriate discretion is exerted.

#### Labour market programmes

In most countries, general legislation requires unemployed people to accept placements into any kind of official or approved labour market programme. In the United Kingdom, the requirement applies only to a specific list of official programmes. In some countries, it is not clear that the unemployed person could object to the "suitability" of the LMP placement, but, in others, programmes must meet "suitability" criteria similar to those applying for a job placement although occasionally some particular objections (e.g. on the basis of travel-to-work time) are disallowed or different objections (e.g. that a vocational training course will not improve employment prospects) are admissible. In Belgium and France, only participation in vocational training programmes is mentioned in general legislation, so that job creation programmes are obligatory only because they can be assimilated to market work, although Belgium has introduced specific legislation for its Agence Locale pour l'Emploi work programme. Programmes may, of course, be filled entirely by advertising-type methods even when there exists a legal basis for making participation obligatory: as in other areas, legislation is not a reliable guide to practice.

# Independent job search

General legal obligation and specific reporting requirements. Countries can be divided into those where independent job search is not normally required at all (e.g. Belgium and the Czech Republic), those where independent job search is required in principle but there is no requirement for recording or reporting it frequently or by a particular method (e.g. Denmark, Germany and Norway), and those with explicit guidelines about the reporting process and the minimum acceptable frequency of job applications or other acts of job search (Australia, Switzerland and the United Kingdom).

# Contacts with the Public Employment Service (other than in relation to job offers or job search)

Legislation generally requires as a condition for benefit that the person register with the placement service, sign on or otherwise confirm the continuation of unemployment at specific intervals and in a specific way, and participate in assessments and attend interviews and collective information sessions as instructed. More unusual provisions include a requirement that the person remain contactable *e.g.* by mail (this is implicit everywhere, but often not explicit), a requirement that the claimant should formally acknowledge his or her duties as a benefit recipient (*e.g.* sign a document that lists the obligations), and the United Kingdom's specific requirement for compliance with (reasonable) written instructions from PES officers (the Jobseeker's Direction: *e.g.* if lack of a current driving licence is a barrier to placement the instruction issued might be "renew your driving licence").

# Individual action plans

An individual action plan is a document negotiated between the unemployed person and a PES officer, signed by the unemployed person, describing actions to be undertaken by both parties. Australia, Belgium, Denmark, Finland, Norway and the United Kingdom use some such procedure. In Finland and Norway, the action plan procedure is not explicitly

mentioned in benefit legislation (in Finland it is mentioned in labour market policy legislation) and failure to co-operate could only be sanctioned under some very generally-worded provisions (in Finland, a requirement for co-operation with measures intended to promote the chance of finding employment). In the other countries, the obligation to co-operate with the procedure and carry out the actions entered into the plan are explicit. However in Belgium, Finland and Norway, there is no legal basis for the PES to insist upon including, in the plan, actions that are not required under general benefit legislation. Legislation in Australia lists some additional requirements that can be included. Legislation in the United Kingdom allows the PES to include any "reasonable" action in the plan, subject to appeal.

The United Kingdom procedure (Jobseeker's Agreement) differs from the others in that it is obligatory at initial registration (and not only after some months of unemployment) and it defines not only actions to be undertaken but also availability for work (i.e. restrictions that the person wishes to place on working hours, occupation, pay, etc. must be stated and included, subject to negotiation, in the Agreement if they are to be valid).

#### **Variation of requirements**

Older workers. Older workers can get benefit without being available for paid work as from the age of 50 in Belgium (if they are long-term unemployed) and from age 55 in France (if they are on the lowest level of benefit), 57 (usually) in Finland, 58 in Germany, and 60 in the United Kingdom (transfer to Income Support) and Australia (if unemployed for at least nine months). Australia allows people aged over 50 to continue in voluntary work or a part-time job paying at least 35 per cent of average male full-time weekly earnings without looking for any other work, and Norway allows people aged over 60 to be available only for part-time work, and drops the geographical mobility requirement for them. By contrast, in Denmark unemployment benefit can be paid up to age 67 with no variation in principle of requirements for availability and suitable work (though many workers are able to transfer to an early retirement benefit).

Youth. Many countries have labour market programmes targeted on youth, but Denmark has removed the right to passive unemployment benefits for all youth aged under 25 and unemployed more than 6 months, and other countries have introduced similar specific requirements for participation in programmes (Mutual Obligation in Australia, New Deal in the United Kingdom) and Finland has removed the right for youth aged under 25 without a vocational qualification (subject to the person being offered a programme place as an alternative).

Pilot schemes. Benefit legislation in Switzerland and the United Kingdom explicitly allows pilot (e.g. local) variations in eligibility regulations to be implemented subject to certain constraints.

## **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

ABBRING, J.H., VAN DEN BERG, G.J. and VAN OURS, J.C. (1999),

"The effect of unemployment insurance sanctions on the transition rate from unemployment to employment", Amsterdam, Tinbergen Institute (version of 26 April 1999 on website www2.tinbergen.nl).

AUER, P. (2000),

Employment Revival in Europe: Labour Market Success in Austria, Denmark, Ireland and the Netherlands. Geneva. ILO.

COUNCIL OF ECONOMIC ADVISERS (1997),

Explaining the Decline in Welfare Receipt, 1993-1996 (on website www.whitehouse.gov/WH/EOP/CEA/html/Whitepapers.html).

COUNCIL OF ECONOMIC ADVISERS (1999),

The Effects of Welfare Policy and the Economic Expansion on Welfare Caseloads: An Update (available as above).

DOLTON, P. and O'NIELL, D. (1996),

"Unemployment duration and the Restart effect: some experimental evidence", Economic Journal, Vol. 106, No. 435 (March), pp. 387-400.

FINN, D., BLACKMORE, M. and NIMMO, M. (1998),

Welfare to Work and the Long term Unemployed: They're Very Cynical, London, Unemployment Unit and Youthaid.

GRUBB, D. and WELLS, W. (1994),

"Employment regulation and patterns of work in EC countries", OECD Economic Studies, No. 21 (Winter 1993), pp. 7-58.

JENSEN, P., NIELSEN, M. and ROSHOLM, M. (1999),

"The effects of benefits, incentives, and sanctions on youth unemployment", Working Paper 1999-5, Centre for Labour Market and Social Research, Aarhus.

LAYARD, R. (1998),

"Discussion" following M. Burda, "Unemployment", Economic Policy, No. 7 (October), pp. 416-419.

LEVINE, L. (1969),

The Public Employment Service in Social and Economic Policy: Deliberations of a Working Party, OECD.

LJUNGQVIST, L. and SARGENT, T. (1995),

"The Swedish unemployment experience", European Economic Review, Vol. 39 (May), pp. 1043-1070.

#### MARTINI, A. and WISEMAN, M. (1997).

"Explaining the recent decline in welfare caseloads: is the Council of Economic Advisers right?", Challenge, Vol. 40, No. 6 (November-December), pp. 6-20.

#### MINISTRY OF FINANCE (1998).

Availability Criteria in Selected OECD Countries, Working Paper No. 6, Copenhagen, Ministry of Finance

#### MINISTRY OF FINANCE (1999),

The Danish Economy – Medium Term Economic Survey, Copenhagen, Ministry of Finance (available on website www.fm.dk).

#### MINISTRY OF LABOUR (1999),

The Labour Market Reforms – A Status, Copenhagen, Ministry of Labour (available on website www.am.dk)

#### MURRAY, I. (1995),

Desperately Seeking A Job: a Critical Guide to the 1996 Jobseekers Allowance, London, Unemployment Unit.

#### OECD (1963).

Labour Market Policu in Sweden.

#### OECD (1971),

Manpower Policy in Belgium.

# OECD (1990),

Employment Outlook.

#### OECD (1994a),

Employment Outlook.

#### OECD (1994b).

The OECD Jobs Study, Evidence and Explanations, Part II.

#### OECD (1996a).

The Public Employment Service: Denmark, Finland, Italy.

#### OECD (1996b),

Labour Market Policies in Switzerland.

#### OECD (1998).

The Public Employment Service: Greece, Ireland, Portugal.

#### OECD (1999a),

Employment Outlook.

#### OECD (1999b),

The Public Employment Service in the United States.

#### OFDE (1999a)

Étude d'évaluation des ORP: Rapport final, OFDE Contributions à la politique du marché du travail n° 14, Berne (available on website www.orp.ch).

#### OFDE (1999b),

Examen de la structure de caisses (sous-mandat 1) : Rapport final, OFDE Contributions à la politique du marché du travail No. 16, Berne.

#### RAISANEN, H. and SKOG, H. (1998),

Towards a Better Functioning Labour Market: Senior Government Advisors' Report for the Reform of the Labour Market Policy System, Helsinki, Ministry of Labour.

RICCA, S. (1982),

Les services de l'emploi : leur nature, leur mandat, leurs fonctions, Geneva, ILO.

RRV (Riksrevisionsverket) (1999),

Kontrollen inom välfärdssystem och inkomstbeskattning: Huvudrapport, RRV report 1999:39A, Stockholm: RRV.

VAN DEN BERG, G.J., VAN DER KLAAUW, B. and VAN OURS, J.C. (1999),

"Punitive sanctions and the transition rate from welfare to work", Amsterdam, Tinbergen Institution (version of February 1999 on website www2.tinbergen.nl).

VISSER, J. and HEMERIJCK, A. (1997),

"A Dutch Miracle": Job Growth, Welfare Reform and Corporatism in the Netherlands, Amsterdam University Press.